
MINUTES 
WINNETKA VILLAGE COUNCIL  

REGULAR MEETING 
April 19, 2016 

(Approved:  May 3, 2016) 

A record of a legally convened regular meeting of the Council of the Village of Winnetka, which 
was held in the Village Hall Council Chambers on Tuesday, April 19, 2016, at 7:00 p.m. 

1) Call to Order.  President Greable called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  Present:  Trustees 
Andrew Cripe, Carol Fessler, William Krucks, Stuart McCrary, Scott Myers and Marilyn 
Prodromos.  Absent:  None.  Also present:  Village Manager Robert Bahan, Assistant to the 
Village Manager Megan Pierce, Village Attorney Peter M. Friedman, Community 
Development Director Mike D’Onofrio, Assistant Community Development Director Brian 
Norkus, and approximately 67 persons in the audience.   

2) Pledge of Allegiance.  President Greable led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

3) Quorum. 

a) May 3, 2016 Regular Meeting.  All of the Council members present indicated that they 
expect to attend.   

b) May 10, 2016 Study Session.  All of the Council members present indicated that they 
expect to attend.   

c) May 16, 2016 Regular Meeting.  All of the Council members present indicated that they 
expect to attend.   

4) Approval of the Agenda.  Trustee Myers, seconded by Trustee McCrary, moved to approve 
the Agenda.  By voice vote, the motion carried.   

5) Consent Agenda 

a) Village Council Minutes.   

i) April 5, 2016 Regular Meeting.    

b) Warrant List.  Approving the Warrant List dated April 1-14, 2016 in the amount of 
$841,982.23. 

c) Ordinance No. M-8-2016: Authorizing the Disposition of Surplus Personal Property 
Owned by the Village of Winnetka (Introduction).  Authorization to dispose of surplus 
personal property owned by the Village of Winnetka. 

d) Resolution No. R-22-2016: Green Bay Road & Elm Street Traffic Signal Funding 
(Adoption).  Authorization to use $300,000 in Motor Fuel Tax funds for the Traffic 
Signal Modernization Project at the intersection of Green Bay Road and Elm Street. 

e) Resolution No. R-23-2016: Approving a Contract with B-Max Inc., for Electric 
Distribution Work (Adoption).  Approval of a contract with B-Max Inc. for electric 
distribution work. 

  



Winnetka Village Council Regular Meeting April 19, 2016 
 

 2 

f) Resolution No. R-24-2016: Approving a Contract with Master Project Inc.,  
for Roofing Work at the Village’s Electric Generation Plant (Adoption).  Approval of a 
contract with Master Project Inc. for repairs of the Electric Plant roof. 

Trustee Myers, seconded by Trustee Cripe, moved to approve the foregoing items on the 
Consent Agenda by omnibus vote.  By roll call vote, the motion carried.  Ayes:  Trustees 
Cripe, Fessler, Krucks, McCrary, Myers and Prodromos.  Nays:  None.  Absent:  None. 

6) Stormwater Report.  None. 

7) Ordinances and Resolutions. 

a) Ordinance No. M-7-2016:  1112 Willow Road, Winnetka School District 36, Special Use 
Permit and Variation (Introduction / Adoption).  Mr. D’Onofrio reviewed this request for 
a special use permit and zoning variation for the installation of two modular classroom 
units at Crow Island School.  He explained the proposal would reduce the side yard 
setback to 5 feet, whereas a 12-foot setback is required, resulting in a 50% variation.  He 
noted that the School District plans to use the temporary classrooms for the next three 
school years, with one unit installed in 2016, and a second unit added in 2017 based upon 
approval of an extended day Kindergarten program.  He said District 36 plans to have a 
long-term plan in place by 2019 to address enrollment patterns and student capacity at its 
five school buildings; approval of the modular units would allow work on the plan to take 
place while providing relief from overcrowding in the meantime. 

Mr. D’Onofrio explained that initial concerns of the school’s neighbors were put to rest 
after District 36 met with community members and agreed to engage a landscape 
architect.  He said landscaping will be improved both around the temporary classrooms 
and the existing school, particularly along Glendale Avenue.  The Zoning Board of 
Appeals, Design Review Board and Plan Commission all recommended approval of the 
request.  He added that the School District is requesting a waiver of introduction, in order 
to expedite ordering of the units for installation before the 2016-17 school year begins. 

After confirming that the neighborhood’s concerns had been alleviated, Trustee Krucks 
asked what impact the school’s landmark status has on potential additions to the building.  
Mr. Norkus explained the school’s status as a National Landmark was discussed at the 
Plan Commission meeting; however, the modular units will not have any impact as they 
are temporary and reversible. 

Penny Lanphier, Crow Island Stewardship Committee.  Ms. Lanphier noted that the 
committee is an independent group monitoring the school and that the National 
Landmark Program was extremely pleased that the School District was proactive in 
informing the program about the proposed installation of the modular units. 

Peter Gelderman, Tower Road.  Mr. Gelderman asked if the temporary classrooms will 
encroach onto the Crow Island Woods; Mr. D’Onofrio said they would not. 

The Trustees unanimously voiced agreement to waive introduction. 

Trustee McCrary, seconded by Trustee Cripe, moved to waive introduction of Ordinance 
No. M-7-2016.  By roll call vote, the motion carried.  Ayes:  Trustees Cripe, Fessler, 
Krucks, McCrary, Myers and Prodromos.  Nays:  None.  Absent:  None. 



Winnetka Village Council Regular Meeting April 19, 2016 
 

 3 

Trustee Cripe, seconded by Trustee Myers, moved to adopt Ordinance No. M-7-2016.  
By roll call vote, the motion carried.  Ayes:  Trustees Cripe, Fessler, Krucks, McCrary, 
Myers and Prodromos.  Nays:  None.  Absent:  None. 

8) Public Comment.  None. 

9) New Business.  

a) Downtown Master Plan:  Teska Associates’ Status Report.  Meg Benson, Chair of the 
Downtown Master Plan (DMP) Steering Committee, explained that the DMP process is 
about half-completed.  She described it as a very deliberate, comprehensive approach 
which began with gathering information on demographics, parking, community, etc.  The 
Steering Committee analyzed the compiled information, and will ultimately narrow 
themes down to a set of recommendations to the Council:  some specific, others more 
expansive. 

Ms. Benson said Teska has done a lot of public engagement, including attending board 
meetings of other Village governing bodies, Park District events, and holding several 
public workshops.  In addition, the Village website and E-newsletter feature news on the 
DMP process every week.  She explained that the Vision Statement for each business 
district is a living, breathing concept for what the community would like to see in their 
future downtowns. 

Next, Erin Cigliano, Teska Project Planner, presented a project overview, which included 
a timeline, a description of outreach efforts, an explanation of the vision statements, and a 
review of the Urban Design Quick Poll responses to-date. 

Michael Blue, Teska Project Principal, recapped the redevelopment scenarios that were 
discussed at the last Steering Committee meeting.  He noted that these are site concepts, 
not actual development plans, and are intended to illustrate development lessons.  He 
added that market conditions, style and site analysis are other contributing factors that 
drive development. 

Mr. Blue listed important lessons learned from the Development Scenario exercise: 

• Redevelopment of existing parking lots simultaneously eliminates existing 
parking and creates the need for additional parking. 

• No site is developed in a vacuum; nearby sites should be taken into consideration 
to create a larger development, or to meet the need for parking, outdoor seating, 
passive recreation, etc. 

• Development is best done in coordination with adjacent owners and/or 
government bodies. 

Peter Gelderman, Tower Road.  Mr. Gelderman asked if Teska recommends keeping a 
Post Office branch at the Post Office redevelopment site, and Mr. Teska responded 
affirmatively. 

Richard Sobol, Winnetka.  Mr. Sobol asked how the DMP impacts the Fell Site 
redevelopment.  Mr. Blue explained that the One Winnetka proposal was already 
undergoing the preliminary approval process when the DMP began.  Therefore, the Fell 
site was not available to be evaluated as part of the redevelopment exercise.   



Winnetka Village Council Regular Meeting April 19, 2016 
 

 4 

Trustee Myers elaborated that the DMP deals with broad concepts – not specific design 
elements for individual buildings, adding that the work of the Village cannot be stopped 
while the DMP process plays out. 

Ms. Benson noted that the DMP will apply for the next 20 years or so to the whole 
downtown, not just a specific site; and while it will be relevant to One Winnetka, it won’t 
drastically change how the proposal is viewed. 

President Greable thanked the many community members who have donated their time to 
work on the DMP project and invited all interested parties to attend the Steering 
Committee meetings. 

10) Old Business. 

a) One Winnetka Planned Development (continued).  President Greable announced that the 
public comment period would pick up where it left off at the last meeting, starting with 
questions and followed by comments.  He said Staff would record all questions from the 
audience and provide them to the Developer, who will respond in writing. 

Ron Drucker, 711 Oak Street.  Mr. Drucker expressed concern about the garbage pickups 
off Lincoln Avenue, as they will be early in the morning and be noisy. 

Carrie Aronson, Coldwell Banker.  Ms. Aronson asked if diverse uses will be allowed in 
the Retail Overlay District.   

Steve Miller, 603 Provident Avenue.  Has the Council considered that the Village will be 
asked for height increases on the other three corners of Elm Street and Lincoln Avenue if 
One Winnetka goes forward with increased height allowances?  How will security of 
underground parking be handled?  What is the bond amount, in the event the project is 
halted? 

Sally Hoit, Winnetka Mews.  Will a scale model will be made of the development? 

Jerry Brown, 711 Oak Street.  Will the applicant have insurance to cover any potential 
damage that might be done to his building during One Winnetka construction, and how 
large would the policy be? Where will the project staging area be?  How long will 
Lincoln Avenue be closed for construction of the underground parking? 

Richard Kates, 1326 Tower Road.  How much money is the developer asking the Village 
to contribute to the project? Has this amount increased since the initial presentation to the 
Plan Commission, and if so, why?  What will the Village be paid for the property 
underneath Lincoln Avenue?  What public improvement contributions is the developer 
seeking and what is the monetary value of those? If the developer does not get the 
contributions from the Village, both financial and infrastructure, will the project go 
forward? 

Tom Rajkovich, 306 Forest Glen.  Will the developer provide specific descriptions of the 
palette materials to be used on the building?  Will the materials be authentic?  What will 
the underground parking look like at dusk or later? Can the developer provide a digital 
interactive model for the public to use for more careful viewing of the development from 
other vantage points? 



Winnetka Village Council Regular Meeting April 19, 2016 
 

 5 

Ann Wilder, Spruce Street.  Assuming no change to the water service lines, and no 
negative effect on the pressure for neighboring users, will there be adequate water service 
to all the units in the buildings?  Could parking be satisfied on-site if it was reduced to the 
amount required in the Code?  Will the proposed dining tables on Elm Street be located 
on the public sidewalk and if yes, how much footage will there be for pedestrians to pass 
by? 

The question period ended at 8:40 p.m.  Next, President Greable called for comments 
from the public. 

David Humphrey, owner of Grand Foods property.  Mr. Humphrey posited that people 
move to Winnetka to realize the benefits of limited scale and he showed a visualization of 
the proposed development as seen from the second floor of Village Hall.  He said organic 
growth seeks changes when they are necessary and asked what needs a taller building 
serves.  He urged the Council not to settle for a building that would overshadow the 
downtown but one that harmonizes with the Village as it is. 

Bob Humphrey, 711 Oak.  Mr. Humphrey said if the One Winnetka development is 
approved, there will be precedent to approve the next proposal for a six or seven story 
development.  He noted that smaller trees are intentionally planted in the business 
districts, and the buildings are within the tree canopy.  He said he could see no benefit to 
the Village, along with disproportionate disadvantages to the near neighbors of the 
proposed project. 

Denise Keller.  Ms. Keller said Winnetka needs the development because people want to 
buy new construction, and she suggested a group discussion would overcome a lot of 
obstacles. 

Eleanor Prince, Kenilworth.  Ms. Prince said Winnetka is the envy of the surrounding 
communities because of its planned feel and she suggested taking off two stories on the 
west side of the development in the interest of balance. 

Peter Tyor, 711 Oak.  Mr. Tyor expressed concerns about safety, fairness and trust, the 
narrowing of Lincoln Avenue and sidewalks, and the proximity of the entrance to the 
711 Oak driveway. 

Don Faloon, 799 Foxdale.  Mr. Faloon said the site is very large and a building with more 
bulk could be built under the existing Code at the four-story height.  He thought One 
Winnetka will be more of a community asset than a simple four-story building, and 
posited that the 70-foot height occupies a small percentage of the overall site, and the 
visual impact will be minimal.  He added that the parking would be Village-owned, 
subsidized by the developer. 

Brook Bloom, 979 Willow Road.  Ms. Bloom said she moved to Winnetka for the 
schools, walkability and the Village’s cohesive look.  She expressed concern about the 
takeover of Lincoln Avenue and possible use of Village funds.  She urged the Council to 
take its time, consider the issues and listen to the community. 

Katie Reap, 1217 Asbury.  Ms. Reap said One Winnetka is a stunning project that will 
put Winnetka on the map and she advised looking ahead, not to the past. 



Winnetka Village Council Regular Meeting April 19, 2016 
 

 6 

Peter Gelderman, Tower Road.  Mr. Gelderman said he was opposed to the project 
because it is too tall and too big. 

Richard Kates, 1326 Tower Road.  Mr. Kates said a 2006 parking study indicated 
deficient parking on Elm Street east of Green Bay Road; however, a 2011 KLOA study 
found the Village provides a total of 487 spaces in the East Elm District, with 346 spaces 
used on weekdays and 250 used on weekends during peak demand times.  He posited that 
there is plenty of parking in the East Elm District, the Village does not need to subsidize 
parking, and added that the last proposed development at the Fell Site did not ask for 
Village money, but instead offered the Village $1.5 million in improvements.  He urged 
caution in the use of Village funds. 

Richard Sobol.  Mr. Sobol read a letter from the Illinois Historic Preservation Agency 
urging adaptive re-use of the Fell building. 

Marc Hecht, Spruce Street.  Mr. Hecht made the following points:  (i) there will be very 
negative consequences for the Village if the project is abandoned mid-way through, or is 
completed and is not successful; (ii) the project is out of scale for a town of Winnetka’s 
size; (iii) the Council should only approve the project if a long-term bond is secured to 
ensure the developer will stay with the project for 10 years after substantial occupancy is 
achieved; (iv) cash escrows should be funded annually to ensure tax revenues in the event 
the developer goes bankrupt; (v) if successful, the project will congest Village streets and 
drive people away. 

Peter Milbratz.  Mr. Milbratz said the Fell building should be revitalized and used again 
and felt it is an asset to the community. 

Derrick Kaleta, 611 Lincoln.  Mr. Kaleta said One Winnetka is too massive and complex 
and will cause too much congestion.  He was against using taxpayer money on the 
project. 

Dan Hales, 711 Oak.  Mr. Hales asserted there will be massive congestion if the project is 
built, and that people want tranquility and peace, not noise and crowding. 

Bradley Smith, Evanston.  Mr. Smith said it seems most of the feedback on One 
Winnetka has been negative and he wondered how people who don’t read the news about 
it feel about the project. 

Steve Miller, Provident Avenue.  Mr. Miller said approving the zoning variations will 
open a Pandora’s Box of other developers wanting to do a similar project in Winnetka. 

Tom Rajkovich, 306 Forest.  Mr. Rajkovich said it comes down to establishing a 
character for the Village, and he urged a separation between the residential and public 
areas of Winnetka, which would leave public buildings like churches, Community House 
etc., to dominate the skyline.  He criticized One Winnetka as being city architecture and 
scale, adding that it will look like a fish out of water. 

  



Winnetka Village Council Regular Meeting April 19, 2016 
 

 7 

Vickie Apatoff, 730 Ardsley.  Ms. Apatoff asked if so much retail can be supported in a 
town of Winnetka’s size, and she compared One Winnetka to a development in Highland 
Park which is smaller than One Winnetka, that is sitting largely empty.  She cautioned 
that such a fate for One Winnetka would have a very negative effect on the Elm Business 
District.  She urged the Council to consider the size and scale of the development before 
approving. 

Jan Bawden, 129 DeWindt.  Ms. Bawden said the Business Community Development 
Commission examined building heights in the commercial zones in 2014, and 
recommended a maximum height of 45 feet, and she added that the height of One 
Winnetka should not be approved. 

Katherine Veach, 1040 Sunset Road.  Ms. Veach said Winnetka is not attracting people 
from the city anymore, and something must be done. 

Denny Niles, Spruce Street.  Mr. Niles said Winnetka’s housing stock is too expensive, 
the market is slow, and One Winnetka could increase property values. 

There being no more public comment, President Greable continued the One Winnetka 
discussion until a later Council meeting, the date of which will be announced in advance. 

11) Appointments.  None. 

12) Reports.   

a) Village President.  None. 

b) Trustees.   

i) Trustee Fessler reported that the final article of the Founding Times is in the 
Winnetka Current. 

c) Attorney.  None. 

d) Manager.  None. 

13) Closed Session.  Trustee Krucks moved to adjourn into Closed Session to discuss purchase or 
lease of real property and for setting of a price for sale or lease property owned by the 
Village of Winnetka, pursuant to Sections 2c(5) and 2c(6) of the Illinois Open Meetings Act.  
Trustee Cripe seconded the motion.  By roll call vote, the motion carried. Ayes:  Trustees 
Cripe, Fessler, Krucks, McCrary, Myers and Prodromos.  Nays:  None.  Absent:  None.   

President Greable announced that the Council would not return to the open meeting after 
Executive Session.  The Council adjourned into Executive Session at 9:57 p.m.   

14) Adjournment.  Trustee Myers, seconded by Trustee Cripe, moved to adjourn the meeting.  By 
voice vote, the motion carried.  The meeting adjourned at 11:16 p.m.  

 
 
 
 ______________________________ 
 Deputy Clerk 


	MINUTES

